RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN02-10-2015

COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT I

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v. Case No. 2014AP002707CR

DIJON L. CARTER.

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL TO REVIEW A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND ORDER DENYING MOTION TO DISMISS ENTERED IN MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE CHARLES F. KAHN, J D WATTS, AND JEFFREY A. WAGNER PRESIDING

BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

KATHLEEN A LINDGREN Attorney for Defendant-Appellant State Bar No. 1059518

Lakeland Law Firm, LLC N27 W23957 Paul Road, Suite 206 Pewaukee, WI 53072 (262)347-2000

Statement of the Case and of the Facts			
Argument			
l.		Circuit Court Should Not Have Extended the Finding in ps to Include Juvenile Adjudications	n 5
	a.	Juvenile Adjudications are not Criminal Convictions	8
	b.	Juveniles are a More Vulnerable Population than Adand Have More to Lose When Notice is not Given	lults 11
Conclusion			
Wis. Stat. (Rule) 809.19(8)(d) Certification			
Wis. Stat. (Rule) 809.19(12)(f) Certification			
Wis. Stat. (Rule) 809.19(2)(b) Certification			
Wis. Stat. (Rule) 809.19(13)(f) Certification			
Certification of Mailing			
Appendix			

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

In Re the Interest of Hezzie R. 219 Wis.2d 848, 580 N.W.2d 660 (1998)	5,7,9,10,12			
McKeiver v. Pennsylvania 403 U.S. 528 (1971)	10			
N.E. v. Wisconsin Dep't of Health & Soc. Servs. (In the Interes	et of N.E.) 10			
State v. Livingston 159 Wis.2d 561, 464 N.W.2d 839 (1991)	3			
State v. Phillips 172 Wis.2d 391, 493 N.W.2d 270(Ct. App. 1992)	4 - 7,11-12			
State v. Woods 173 Wis.2d 129, 496 N.W.2d 144 (Ct. App. 1992)	10			
Wisconsin Statutes				
Wis. Stat. § 938.01(2)	8, 9			
Wis. Stat. § 938.183(1m)(c)3	10			
Wis. Stat. § 938.293(1)	11			
Wis. Stat. § 938.299(1)(a)	11			
Wis. Stat. § 938.341	0 0 40			
Wis. Stat. § 938.35(1)				
Wis. Stat. § 938.35(1)				
Wis. Stat. § 938.35(1)	9, 10 11			
Wis. Stat. § 938.35(1)	9, 10 11 2			
Wis. Stat. § 938.35(1)	9, 10 11 2 12			
Wis. Stat. § 938.35(1)	9, 10 11 2 12 3, 4, 7			
Wis. Stat. § 938.35(1)	9, 10 11 2 12 3, 4, 7			

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT I

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v. Case No. 2014AP002707CR

DIJON L CARTER,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL TO REVIEW A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND ORDER DENYING MOTION TO DISMISS ENTERED IN MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE CHARLES F. KAHN, J D WATTS, AND JEFFREY A. WAGNER PRESIDING

BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

STATEMENT ON ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Is the failure of a juvenile court to advise a delinquent of a lifetime firearm prohibition, pursuant to Wis. Stats. § 938.341, a ground for dismissal of a felon in possession of a firearm charge filed against that same individual when an adult.

TRIAL COURT ANSWER: No.

POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Neither is requested.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

Mr. Dijon Carter was adjudicated delinquent in case 2006JV414B on August 29, 2006 for a single count of Possession with Intent to Deliver THC – 200 Grams or Less, a charge which had Mr. Carter been an adult, would have been a felony. Mr. Carter was 15 years old at the time and had a 9th grade education. At the time of the juvenile dispositional hearing no warning was given to Mr. Carter regarding firearm possession in the future. (8/29/06 Trs. p.9, App. p.204). In 2009 Mr. Carter was convicted of possession of a dangerous weapon by a person under eighteen years of age a Class A misdemeanor in violation of Wis. Stat. § 938.60(2) in case 2009CM1132. No mention was made of Mr. Carter's 2006 adjudication during the disposition on the 2009 case. (2/22/10 Trs., App. pp.206-216). No mention was made in the 2009 case of Mr. Carter being forbidden to possess firearms due to the previous 2006 delinquency adjudication. *Id.*

Carter was charged in case 2011CF3770 with a single count of Possession of Firearm by a Felon, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 941.29(2). The basis of the charge was the prior adjudication of delinquency in case 2006JV414B for possession of marijuana with intent to deliver. That juvenile adjudication remains of record and unreversed. A motion to dismiss the information for Failure to Notify Juvenile of Firearm Ban was filed by Mr. Carter's trial counsel on February, 2012 but was later withdrawn. (R:5). On May 8, 2012 Mr. Carter pled guilty, but the judgment of conviction was not entered, pending briefing of the firearm notice issue at the request of then presiding Judge Charles F. Kahn Jr. Briefs were filed by both defense (R:8 and R:10) and the District Attorney's Office (R:9). Oral argument on the motions were heard by Judge Kahn on June 21, 2012 with no decision entered, and heard again by Judge Watts on April 1, 2013. An oral decision, denying the defense motion to dismiss, was

made on April 1, 2013 by Judge Watts and by written order on April 18, 2013. (R:11). Mr. Carter's trial counsel also filed a Petition for Leave to Appeal the non-final order or judgment with the Court of Appeals District I, which was denied on June 14, 2013. (R:12). Mr. Carter's guilty plea was entered at the time of his sentencing before Judge Jeffrey A. Wagner on November 15, 2013. Notice of Intent to Pursue Post Conviction Relief was filed November 15, 2013. (R:19).

ARGUMENT

This is a case of first impression in Wisconsin. Both the Wisconsin Criminal Code and Juvenile Justice Code require that courts give notice of the requirements and penalties under Wis. Stat. § 941.29. Adult proceedings are governed by Wis. Stat. § 973.176(1): "Whenever a court imposes a sentence or places a defendant on probation regarding a felony conviction, the court shall inform the defendant of the requirements and penalties under s. 941.29." (emphasis added). In juvenile proceedings a similar statute, Wis. Stat. § 938.341 mandates that: "Whenever a court adjudicates a juvenile delinquent for an act that if committed by an adult in this state would be a felony, the court shall inform the juvenile of the requirements and penalties under s. 941.29." (emphasis added). Both the adult and juvenile statutes use the mandatory term "shall." Unless there is an ambiguity, the plain meaning of a statute's terms must be followed. State v. Livingston, 159 Wis.2d 561, 573, 464 N.W.2d 839, 844 (1991). When each word in the statute is given its full effect the statute is most naturally read to require that court give every juvenile a warning that future possession of firearms is banned. Even if the meaning of the text were susceptible to multiple interpretations, the burden would remain on those advocating a departure from the requirement in the statute and from settled law to come forward with persuasive new arguments or evidence.

In this case, the circuit court has improperly chosen to expand the holding in <u>State v. Phillips</u>, 172 Wis.2d. 391, 493 N.W.2d 270 (Ct. App. 1992) to apply not only to adult criminal convicts but also juvenile delinquents. The circuit court focuses upon the language of Wis. Stat. § 941.29 and the holding in <u>Phillips</u>.

"The Court cannot really get away from State versus Phillips and I look at the defense arguments and his reasons to dismiss the case and if that's the basis for his motion, it's really as of fairness or equity...."

(R42:9) and

"...as we have heard from the cases I have recited, especially Phillips, the defendant's knowledge and the lack of warning that first of all, the lack of knowledge and the lack of warning are not requirements. Phillips says there are only two elements. There is no notification element and I am not going to create one here. The failure by Judge Cooper doesn't nullify 941.29. That is right out of Phillips as well and 941.29 creates a strict criminal liability."

(R42:11). This expansion of <u>State v. Phillips</u> does not take into account the numerous differences between juvenile and adult law, nor the factual differences between the defendant in Phillips and Mr. Carter's current situation in the case now before the Court.

In this instance, Mr. Carter was adjudicated delinquent of an act that if committed by an adult would be a felony in 2006JV414B for Possession with Intent to Deliver THC – 200 grams or less. Mr. Carter was never advised during disposition of this predicate juvenile offense that he was thereafter prohibited from possessing a firearm. (See 8/29/06 Trs., App. p. 204). Mr. Carter was 15 years old at the time of his juvenile adjudication and had completed only the 9th grade.

In Mr. Carter's case, the 2006 error of the Mr. Carter's sentencing court was compounded when Mr. Carter was subsequently charged with a misdemeanor for Possession of a Firearm by an Individual under the age

of 18 in 2010 when apparently, by the logic of the judge who denied the motion in this case, he could have been charged as a Felon in Possession of a Firearm. Mr. Carter similarly did not receive warning from the court in his 2010 case of the firearm restriction because his 2010 case was charged as a misdemeanor and as such notice of the firearm restrictions was not required. Thus, not only did Mr. Carter not get warned he was not allowed to possess firearms at the time of his 2006 sentencing, but his 2010 conviction suggested the opposite- that he could legally possess a firearm – just not until he was 18 years old.

Factually, Mr. Carter's situation is very different from that of the defendant in <u>Phillips</u> and this Court should not extend the finding in <u>Phillips</u> to excuse failure of the juvenile court to provide adequate notice of firearm restrictions to juveniles, who could be as young as 10 years old, that have been adjudicated delinquent. <u>Phillips</u>. Even if the Court can ignore Mr. Carter's situation by considering the statutory language in Wis. Stat. § 941.29 as imposing strict liability, the Court should not ignore the language in <u>In Re the Interest of Hezzie R.</u>, 219 Wis.2d. 848, 580 N.W.2d 660 (1998), which is predicated on the courts long-held belief that there is a significant difference between an adult criminal conviction and a juvenile adjudication. The circuit court does not to address <u>Hezzie R.</u> nor does it discuss the difference between juvenile and adult proceedings at all within its decision, despite such differences being argued in defense counsel's motion. *Id.* (4/1/13 Trs. R42:9).

I. The Circuit Court Should Not Have Extended the Finding in Phillips to Include Juvenile Adjudications.

The circuit court denied Mr. Carter's Motion to Dismiss for Failure to Warn seemingly because of the court's belief that the decision in Phillips,

was controlling. *Id.* The <u>Phillips</u> decision; however, is clearly distinguishable from Mr. Carters case, both factually as detailed in the last section, and because firearm warnings are mandated by two different statutes. In <u>Phillips</u> Wis. Stat. § 973.033¹ mandated that the circuit court advised the adult defendant, in the current case, Wis. Sec. § 938.341 mandated that the juvenile court advise the juvenile delinquent. <u>Phillips</u>, 172 Wis.2d. 391.

In State v. Phillips, the Court of Appeals determined that failure to give the mandatory warning in Wis. Stat. § 973.033 to an adult felon did not prevent a subsequent conviction for Felon in Possession under Wis. Stat. § 941.29. Id. The defendant in Phillips had previously been sentenced for a felony, and the court at sentencing had failed to notify him of the firearm ban. 172 Wis.2d at 392. Phillips challenged his charge of Felon in Possession of a Firearm, arguing that a violation of § 941.29 could be established only with proof that the § 973.033 warning of firearm ban had been given by his sentencing court at his prior sentencing. Initially, the circuit court agreed and dismissed the information. The Court of Appeals overturned the circuit court. The Court of Appeals held that Wis. Stat. § 941.29 had only two elements: that the accused was a convicted felon and that the accused was in possession of a firearm. The Court of Appeals determined that no notification element existed and, as such, the prosecutor need not prove that notice had been given to Phillips under § 973.033.

A number of factual distinctions separate <u>Phillips</u> from the instant case. The most obvious of which is that the defendant in <u>Phillips</u>, was charged under a different subsection of § 941.29, as a felon, than Mr. Carter, who was charged for Possession of a firearm as;

_

¹ Wis. Stat. §973.033 was renumbered to Wis. Stat. §973.176 by 2003 Act 121. No substantive changes to the section were made.

"A person is subject to the requirements and penalties of this section if he or she has been... (bm) Adjudicated delinquent for an act committed on or after April 21, 1994, that if committed by an adult in this state would be a felony."

The subsection of Wis. Stat. §941.29 that is at play is important because juvenile adjudications are treated very differently than adult felony convictions in Wisconsin.

In Hezzie R., the Wisconsin Supreme Court determined that the provisions of Wis. Stat. §941.29 "...does not apply to juveniles in the same manner that it applies to adults. Hezzie R., 219 Wis.2d. at 881. In particular the Court noted that the ban on firearm possession doesn't apply to any juvenile adjudicated delinquent "if a court subsequently determines that the [juvenile] is not likely to act in a manner dangerous to public safety." Wis. Stat. § 941.29(8). The juvenile has the burden only of showing "by a preponderance of the evidence that he or she is not likely to act in a manner dangerous to public safety." Id. This language is evidence that the legislature intended to restrict firearm possession of a juvenile adjudicated delinquent only where public safety is at risk. Mr. Carter has not had a hearing under 941.29(8), but argues that Hezzie R. clearly outlines that Wis. Stat. § 941.29 applies differently to juveniles. The circuit court denial of Mr. Carter's motion to dismiss does not address Hezzie R., or the differences between adult criminal convictions or juvenile adjudications in any part of its decision. There is no evidence that the court in Phillips intended its holding to be extended to individuals that had been adjudicated delinquent.

a. Juvenile Adjudications are not Criminal Convictions

In Wisconsin, juveniles are treated differently from adults when prosecuted for crimes in part because juveniles are presumed to be less mature and less sophisticated than adult offenders. A criminal defendant of any age may be challenged to understand the legal system, but the juvenile system involves children as young as age 10. On top of the general lack of education that some juveniles may face, there is also a compounding lack of life experience. Parents of a juvenile may be present to assist their children in the process, but may themselves also face educational or environmental gaps that further confuse or alienate a child going through the juvenile court system. Thus the juvenile justice code was developed not as a strict criminal code, but to provide a more balanced approach to juvenile delinquency, adding personal accountability and community protection to the legislature's primary objectives, in addition to the rehabilitation of juveniles.

The juvenile code is not a criminal code, and a juvenile adjudication is not a "criminal conviction" in the same manner as a prior adult criminal conviction. Rehabilitation, not punishment, is stressed by the juvenile code. A review of Wis. Stat. §938.01(2) supports these propositions.

"LEGISLATIVE INTENT. It is the intent of the legislature to promote a juvenile justice system capable of dealing with the problem of juvenile delinquency, a system which will protect the community, impose accountability for violations of law and equip juvenile offenders with competencies to live responsibly and productively. To effectuate this intent, the legislature declares the following to be equally important purposes of this chapter:

- (a) To protect citizens from juvenile crime.
- (b) To hold each juvenile offender directly accountable for his or her acts.
- (c) To provide an individualized assessment of each alleged and adjudicated delinquent juvenile, in order to prevent further delinquent behavior through the development of competency in the juvenile offender, so that he or she is more capable of living productively and responsibly in the community.

- (d) To provide due process through which each juvenile offender and all other interested parties are assured fair hearings, during which constitutional and other legal rights are recognized and enforced.
- (e) To divert juveniles from the juvenile system through early intervention as warranted, when consistent with the protection of the public.
- (f) To respond to a juvenile offender's needs for care and treatment, consistent with the prevention of delinquency, each juvenile's best interest and protection of the public, by allowing the court to utilize the most effective dispositional option.
- (g) To ensure that victims and witnesses of acts committed by juveniles that result in proceedings under this chapter are, consistent with this chapter and the Wisconsin constitution, afforded the same rights as victims and witnesses of crimes committed by adults, and are treated with dignity, respect, courtesy, and sensitivity throughout those proceedings.

Wis. Stat. 938.01(2).

The adjudication of a juvenile provides a system whereby juvenile offenders are held accountable for their actions while also receiving rehabilitation and targeted services with a goal of avoiding criminal convictions in adult court. As pointed out by the dissent in Hezzie R., "The juvenile justice system has historically been focused solely on nurturing and rehabilitating youthful offenders while removing the taint that accompanies a criminal conviction in adult court." 219 Wis.2d at 901. In fact, the legislature did not express an intent that the adjudication of delinquency be treated as a criminal conviction, codifying to the contrary:

"A judgment in a [juvenile delinquency] proceeding on a petition under this subchapter is not a conviction of a crime, does not impose any civil disabilities ordinarily resulting from the conviction of a crime and does not operate to disqualify the juvenile in any civil service application or appointment."

Wis. Stat. § 938.35(1).

In <u>Hezzie R.</u>, the Court noted that even the placement of the Juvenile Code, next to the Criminal Code, was not because it was part of the Criminal Code, but was a symbolic move to provide incentives for young offenders to change their behavior. 219 Wis.2d at 872. Even when a

criminal court imposes a juvenile disposition, the juvenile is not convicted of a crime but is rather adjudged delinquent. Wis. Stat. § 938.183 (1m)(c)3.

Given the young age, maturity level, and developmental status of individuals appearing before juvenile courts the Juvenile Code's procedure and legislative goals differ greatly from those contained in the adult Criminal Code. Numerous differences exist that illustrate the difference between a juvenile adjudication and a criminal conviction. Under Wis. Stat. § 938.12, the juvenile court has exclusive jurisdiction over juveniles 10 years old or older who are alleged to be delinquent. But beyond age and maturity of the individuals involved, the basic rights afforded an individual involved in juvenile delinguencies are different than those available in adult criminal proceedings. All the constitutional rights afforded criminally accused adults are not imposed in a juvenile adjudication proceeding. Hezzie R., 219 Wis.2d at 867. A juvenile does not have a state or federal constitutional right to a jury trial in a delinquency proceeding. McKeiver v. Pennsylvania, 403 U.S.528 (1971); N.E. v. Wisconsin Dep't of Health & Soc. Servs. (In the Interest of N.E.), 122 Wis.2d 198, 201 361 N.W.2d 693 (1985). Nor is there a fundamental right to one. See N.E., 122 Wis.2d at 207-08.

Juveniles are treated differently at the time of their disposition. The juvenile court is given great deference in crafting dispositions. But there are limits that again illustrate that the court is dealing with juveniles rather than adults. Juveniles serve their time in juvenile correctional facilities until reaching age 17. Wis. Stat. § 938.183(3). A disposition in a delinquency case does not qualify as a sentence, and a court cannot order an adult sentence to run consecutively to a juvenile disposition. State v. Woods, 173 Wis.2d 129, 137, 496 N.W.2d 144 (Ct. App. 1992).

In addition, the proceedings of juvenile court are treated differently than those of adult criminal courts. Court records for juvenile proceedings are kept confidential and separate from other court records. Wis. Stat. §938.396(2). Disclosure of juvenile delinquency discovery is more closely regulated. Wis. Stat. § 938.293(1). In addition, the public is not allowed to attend juvenile delinquency fact-finding hearings without a specific order from the Court. Wis. Stat. § 938.299(1)(a). CCAP does not include any information on juvenile delinquency charges or dispositions.

Given the great differences between juvenile court and adult criminal courts it should not be presumed that the <u>Phillips</u> finding should be expanded to include juvenile delinquencies. Juveniles are not similarly situated to adults in capacity, age, or understanding. For these reasons, and because one of the goals of the juvenile system is not to create criminals but rather to help juveniles avoid becoming entangled in the adult criminal court system, Mr. Carter asks the court to decline to extend <u>Phillips</u> to include all cases involving juvenile adjudications.

b. Juveniles are a More Vulnerable Population than Adults and Have More to Lose When Notice is not Given

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