# RECEIVED

### **STATE OF WISCONSIN 03-16-2015**

#### COURT OF APPEAL SCLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN DISTRICT I

## Case No. 2014AP2707CR

### STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

DIJON L. CARTER,

Defendant-Appellant.

## ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE JEFFREY A. WAGNER, PRESIDING

## BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT STATE OF WISCONSIN

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General

JOHN S. GREENE Assistant Attorney General State Bar No. 1002897

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

#### ARGUMENT

## THE STATUTORY LANGUAGE PLAINLY AND UNAMBIGUOUSLY ESTABLISHES ONLY TWO ELEMENTS OF THE OFFENSE, AND NO BASIS EXISTS TO ADD THE NEW ELEMENT URGED BY CARTER.

Carter raises a single challenge to his conviction for being a felon in possession of a firearm, namely that the judge in his earlier juvenile delinquency proceeding failed to give him the required warning that he was barred from possessing firearms.

The statute defining the offense, Wis. Stat. § 941.29(2), makes it a crime for certain persons to possess firearms,

including persons convicted of felonies and persons who have been adjudicated delinquent for an act that if committed by an adult would constitute a felony. Wis. Stat. § 941.29(2)(a), (b) and (bm).

The operative statutory provision as it applies to Carter reads, in full:

A person specified in sub. (1) is guilty of a Class G felony if he or she possesses a firearm under any of the following circumstances:

. . . .

(b) The person possesses a firearm subsequent to the adjudication, as specified in sub. (1)(bm).

Wis. Stat. § 941.29(2) and (2)(b).

Subsection (1)(bm), added after this court decided State v. Phillips, 172 Wis. 2d 391, 493 N.W.2d 238 (Ct. App. 1992), covers persons "[a]djudicated delinquent for an act committed on or after April 21, 1994, that if committed by an adult in this state would be a felony." Carter does not dispute that he falls within this category, having been previously adjudicated delinquent for possessing marijuana with intent to deliver, a felony under Wis. Stat. § 961.41(1m)(h)1 (8:7; A-Ap. 109).

Separate statutory provisions direct judges in both adult and juvenile proceedings to disclose the firearm prohibition to those to whom it applies, at the time of sentencing or adjudication of delinquency. Wis. Stat. §§ 973.176(1) (adults) and 938.341 (juveniles). The juvenile court failed to make the required disclosure when it adjudicated Carter delinquent (8:3-13; A-Ap. 105-115).<sup>1</sup> Carter's sole argument here is that this failure precludes his subsequent conviction for possessing a firearm.

Carter's argument runs headlong into a contrary controlling decision by this court rejecting the identical claim Carter presses here—that a court's failure to make the firearm ban disclosure in the prior proceeding precludes a subsequent prosecution for possession of a firearm by a felon. *Phillips*, 172 Wis. 2d at 394. And the legislature's enactments after *Phillips* reinforce the meritlessness of Carter's position. Carter can prevail only if the court either overrules *Phillips* or judicially amends the statutes to add a new element applicable only to juvenile adjudications. There is no basis for either.

> A. This court, in *Phillips*, has already rejected Carter's argument that compliance with the notice statute is an implied element of the offense of possession of a firearm by a felon.

This court has previously decided the sole issue Carter raises here, namely that a court's failure to warn the defendant of the firearm ban at the time of the predicate adjudication precludes prosecution for the offense of firearm possession. In *Phillips*, the trial court had accepted the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Despite the court's failure to warn Carter about the firearm ban at the delinquency adjudication hearing, Carter was informed of it nonetheless. At the hearing the court explicitly stated that the offense was a felony (8:7; A-Ap. 109). And the Plea Questionnaire/Waiver of Rights form in the juvenile proceeding signed by Carter explicitly disclosed the ban: "I understand that if one of the charges to which I am pleading is a felony, I will lose any right to possess a firearm or ammunition" (9:11; A-Ap. 126). Carter read and signed the form, and both he and his counsel confirmed that his attorney had explained the questionnaire to him (8:7-8; A-Ap. 109-110).

defendant's argument, echoed here by Carter, that compliance with the notice statute is an element of the offense. 172 Wis. 2d at 392.

Reversing the trial court, this court held that the language of Wis. Stat. § 941.29(2) plainly and unambiguously establishes only two elements of the offense, namely "[t]hat the accused is a convicted felon and that the accused was in possession of a firearm." 172 Wis. 2d at 394.

The Wisconsin Supreme Court agrees. State v. Black, 2001 WI 31, ¶ 18, 242 Wis. 2d 126, 624 N.W.2d 363 ("This crime has two elements"). So do the pattern jury instructions. Wis. JI-Criminal 1343 (2011) ("State must prove . . . that the following two elements were present").

Carter's theory posits an implied, invisible third element. But as this court has already held, "[n]othing in the plain language of sec. 941.29 leads one to believe a notification element to sec. 941.29 exists." *Phillips*, 172 Wis. 2d at 394. Applying the settled rule that "[u]nless there is an ambiguity, the plain meaning of a statute's terms must be followed," this court in *Phillips* found no ambiguity in the two statutes at issue. *Id.* at 394. It thus rejected the claim of an implied third element not appearing in the statute.

This court went on to observe that adding a notification element, as Carter seeks here, would lead to an "absurd result" by essentially exempting from the ban persons convicted of felonies in other states, since the state "has no way of directing equivalent notification in other states." *Id.* at 395. Making notification an element would undercut the legislature's explicit intent to include such persons within the scope of the ban, expressed through enactment of Wis. Stat. § 941.29(b) and (d). *Id.* 

Moreover, adding a notification element is incompatible with the strict liability nature of the offense. It is settled law that possessing a firearm as a felon is a strict liability offense. *Black*, 242 Wis. 2d 126, ¶ 19 ("[T]he statute makes no reference to intent and therefore creates a strict liability offense.") Carter's theory in essence would inject an element of intent into the statute, by barring prosecution when the defendant had not been warned of the firearm ban at the time of his previous conviction or adjudication. This is outside the bounds of the court's proper role.

In an analogous situation, the Wisconsin Supreme Court invalidated on First Amendment grounds a statute creating a strict liability crime that might have been saved with the addition of a scienter requirement. *State v. Weidner*, 2000 WI 52, 235 Wis. 2d 306, 611 N.W.2d 684. The court declined to do so, stating:

If we were now to add scienter to the statute, we would defy the legislative intent and usurp the role of the legislature.

*Id.* at ¶¶ 34, 39.

For the same reason, adding the element Carter proposes to Wis. Stat. § 941.29 is not possible without invading the province of the legislature.

B. The legislature's post-*Phillips* extension of the firearm ban to those with prior delinquency adjudications refutes Carter's theory that the law treats juveniles differently.

In an attempt to overcome *Phillips*, Carter asserts that the statute should be interpreted differently with respect to prior juvenile delinquency adjudications than it is with respect to felony convictions. Specifically, Carter emphasizes that because his predicate disposition was a delinquency adjudication, as opposed to a felony conviction, he was charged under a different paragraph than Phillips was—i.e. Wis. Stat. § 941.29(1)(a) versus (bm). Carter's brief at 6-7.

But Carter points to no relevant distinction between the two paragraphs. They merely identify different categories of persons to whom the firearm ban applies. The two elements of the offense prescribed in Wis. Stat. § 941.29(2) are the same for all categories of persons included in the firearm ban. Nor can Carter's theory be squared with the history of the relevant statutory provisions, which reflect the legislature's intent to treat juvenile dispositions the same as felony convictions.

The legislature established the crime at issue here in 1982, through enactment of the original version of Wis. Stat. § 941.29(2). 1981 Wis. Laws, ch. 141. At first the statute applied only to persons with prior felony convictions:

A person is subject to the requirements and penalties of this section if he or she has been convicted of a felony in this state or of a crime elsewhere that would be a felony if committed in this state.

1981 Wis. Laws, ch. 141, § 1.

Only later, in 1989, did the legislature enact section 973.033, which directed sentencing courts to disclose the firearm ban to felony defendants at sentencing:

Whenever a court imposes a sentence or places a defendant on probation regarding a felony conviction, the court shall inform the defendant of the requirements and penalties under s. 941.29.

1989 Wis. Act 142, § 2.<sup>2</sup> It left § 941.29 untouched.

 $<sup>^2 {\</sup>rm This}$  provision was later renumbered as Wis. Stat. § 973.176(1), its current location. 2003 Wis. Act 121, § 2.

In 1992 came *Phillips*, in which this court explicitly repudiated the assertion that failure to provide the required disclosure of the firearm ban at the time of the first felony conviction barred prosecution for firearm possession.

In 1994—two years after *Phillips*—the legislature extended the firearm ban to cover persons with prior juvenile adjudications involving felony-grade conduct. It accomplished this by creating Wis. Stat. § 941.29(1)(bm), which added a new category to the list of dispositions triggering the ban. 1993 Wis. Act 195, § 8.

In the same enactment, the legislature also imposed a disclosure requirement for juvenile proceedings that mirrors the language in the requirement for adult sentencing hearings:

Whenever a court adjudicates a child delinquent for an act that if committed by an adult in this state would be a felony, the court shall inform the child of the requirements and penalties under s. 941.29.

1993 Wis. Act 195, § 1 (creating Wis. Stat. § 48.341).<sup>3</sup>

Except for the introductory phrase identifying the recipient of the disclosure, the legislature lifted the operative language verbatim from the adult disclosure requirement in Wis. Stat. § 973.176(1)—"the court shall inform the [defendant or child] of the requirements and penalties under s. 941.29."

That the legislature borrowed language from an existing provision that had already been interpreted by the appellate courts leaves no doubt that the holding of *Phillips* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>The term "child" has been replaced with "juvenile," and the statute has been renumbered to current section 938.341. 1995 Wis. Act 77, §§ 266 and 629.

applies equally to the subsequently enacted juvenile provisions.

The legislature's reiteration of language already interpreted by the courts creates a strong presumption that it intended the new provision to be interpreted in the same manner. This precise scenario arose in *State v. Grady*, 2006 WI App 188, 296 Wis. 2d 295, 722 N.W.2d 760. A predecessor statute had been construed by the appellate courts, and the legislature had enacted a new statute using highly similar language. As the court put it,

[t]he question here is whether equivalent language in the current statute should be given the same interpretation. We conclude the answer is yes.

We presume that the legislature acts with full knowledge of existing case law when it enacts a statute. . . It is telling, then, that the legislature chose to use strikingly similar language [in the subsequent statute]. . . Had the legislature intended, this time around, to permit appellate review of a court's failure to consider sentencing guidelines, it would have used language differentiating the current limitation from the former limitation. Instead, the legislature chose nearly identical language. Thus, we must assume the legislature contemplated that the courts would construe the new language to limit appeals consistent with *Halbert*.

Id. at  $\P\P$  8-9.

This principle applies with even greater force here, as the legislature did not merely use language that is "strikingly similar." It is identical.

Carter's argument is thus foreclosed by *Phillips*. Had the legislature intended to distinguish delinquency adjudications from felony convictions in the manner urged by Carter, it certainly would have altered the statutory language in its 1994 enactment to reflect this intention. C. Public policy reasons for treating juveniles differently than adults cannot override the plain meaning of the statutes.

In the absence of any statutory language supporting his theory, Carter's primary argument appears to be that treating juveniles the same as adults is unfair. Carter ably catalogues the public policy reasons for treating juveniles differently from adults, and impliedly suggests a new rule of statutory construction, namely that the courts should overlook even plain and unambiguous statutory language when the statutes could be interpreted in a way the courts deem fairer to juveniles. Carter's brief at 7-12.

Carter adduces no authority for this novel and problematic suggestion. He relies heavily on *In re the Interest of Hezzie R.*, 219 Wis. 2d 848, 580 N.W.2d 660 (1998), playing up the court's statement that Wis. Stat. § 941.29 "does not apply to juveniles in the same manner that it applies to adults." 219 Wis. 2d at 881; Carter's brief at 7.

But the court in *Hezzie* was hardly announcing a radical new principle of statutory construction. Rather, it was merely referring to § 941.29(8), which affords persons subject to the firearm ban because of juvenile delinquency adjudications (as opposed to felony convictions) the ability to persuade a court to exempt them from the firearm ban because they are not dangerous to the public. 219 Wis. 2d at 881. The court found that this option distinguished juvenile delinquency adjudications from true criminal proceedings, thereby not entitling juveniles to jury trials. *Id.* And unlike in this case, there the court was deciding a constitutional challenge to various statutes; here, Carter challenges only the interpretation of statutes—not their validity.

Moreover, the special statutory treatment of juveniles in Wis. Stat. § 941.29 undermines rather than advances Carter's argument. It shows that the legislature in fact did consider the special nature of juveniles and adjusted the statute to provide a safety valve for juveniles not available to those with adult felony convictions. Nothing in *Hezzie* suggests that a single statute—Wis. Stat. § 941.29(2)—can be read in one way for those with prior adult felony convictions (as an offense with only two elements), and another for those with prior delinquency adjudications (impliedly adding a third element), with no language distinguishing between the two groups.

Carter's argument confuses this court's role with that of the legislature. As the supreme court recognized in *Hezzie*, the juvenile provisions of the statutes "reflect a desire [by the legislature] to balance the rehabilitative needs for care and treatment of each juvenile, with holding the juvenile accountable for his or her acts, and protecting the public." 219 Wis. 2d at 889. Such a balancing lies within the sphere of the legislature, not the courts.

The policy considerations Carter presents in his brief could be used to advocate for a different approach by the legislature. But they do not empower the courts to rewrite the statutes, no matter how plain and unambiguous their language and purpose, when they disagree with the policy balance struck by the legislature.

Carter offers no legal authority to the contrary, and the court should reject his appeal.

## CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, the court should affirm the judgment of conviction.